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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
for the financial period ended 31 December 2014.

PrinciPal activities

The principal activity of the Company is that of research and development and sale of Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) security systems and provision of related professional services which are directly and indirectly linked 
to ICT and investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial period.

Financial results

    Group  company
    rM  rM

Loss before taxation     (13,337,367) (5,575,123)
Taxation     135,955 –

Loss for the financial period, 
 attributable to owners of the parent     (13,201,412)  (5,575,123)

DiviDenDs

There were no dividends proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. The 
Board of Directors does not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial period.

reserves anD Provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial period other than those disclosed 
in the financial statements.

issue oF shares anD Debentures

During the current financial period, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 126,324,000 to 
138,956,400 through the issuance of 12,632,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each pursuant to private placement at an 
issue price of RM0.105 per placement share.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial period rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company. 

There was no issuance of debentures during the financial period.

oPtions GranteD over unissueD shares

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial period.

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
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Directors

The Directors in office since the date of the last report are as follows:

Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Toh Hong Chye (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Wong Ngai Peow (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Dato’ Lai Wen Shian (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Low Kim Leng (appointed on 28.05.2014)
Tan Fie Jen (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Ng Kok Wah (appointed on 24.07.2014)
Mohd Badaruddin Bin Masodi (not re-elected on 28.03.2014)
Ismawadee Bin Ismail (not re-elected on 28.03.2014)
Dato’ Ahmad Bin Ismail (removed on 28.05.2014)
Mohd Faidzal Bin Ahmad Mahidin (removed on 28.05.2014)
Megat Mohd Hazim Bin Megat Mohd Aminuddin (appointed on 20.05.2014,
  removed on 28.05.2014)
Ku Mun Fong (resigned on 24.03.2014)

Directors’ interests

The interests and deemed interests in the shares of the Company or its related corporations (other than wholly owned 
subsidiary companies) by the Directors in office at the end of the financial period according to the Register of Directors’ 
Shareholdings are as follows:

 number of ordinary shares of rM0.10 each

 at date of   rights   at
 appointment acquired  issued  sold  31.12.2014

interests in the company
Direct interests
Dato’ Lai Wen Shian  6,000,000  –  –  (6,000,000) –
Wong Ngai Peow  1,500  –  1,500  –  3,000
Tan Fie Jen  400,000  –  424,700  –  824,700
Toh Hong Chye  –  805,700  2,000,000  –  2,805,700

indirect interests
# Dato’ Lai Wen Shian  1,500,000  2,500,000  4,247,100  –  8,247,100
* Toh Hong Chye  –  –  3,000,000  –  3,000,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
[Continued]
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Directors’ interests (cont’d)

 number of Warrants

  at date of   at
  appointment acquired sold 31.12.2014

interests in the company
Direct interests
Wong Ngai Peow   –   1,500   –   1,500 
Tan Fie Jen   –   424,700   –   424,700 
Toh Hong Chye   –   2,000,000   –   2,000,000 

Indirect interests
# Dato’ Lai Wen Shian   –   4,247,100   –   4,247,100 
* Toh Hong Chye   –   3,000,000   –   3,000,000 

# Deemed interest pursuant to the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Crystal Privilege Sdn. Bhd.
* Deemed interest pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”) by virtue of his substantial 

shareholdings in Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn. Bhd.

Note: Rights shares and warrants are allotted on 24 December 2014. The Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants are 
listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 2 January 2015.

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial period had any interest in the ordinary shares of the 
Company and of its related corporations during the financial period.

Directors’ beneFits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a 
benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors 
as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 
Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial 
financial interest, other than certain Directors who have significant financial interests in companies which traded with 
certain companies in the Group in the ordinary course of business as disclosed in Note 29(b) to the financial statements. 

Neither during nor at the end of the financial period, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was 
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or 
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
[Continued]
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other statutory inForMation

(a) Before the statements of financial position and statements of comprehensive income of the Group and of the 
Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate 
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting 
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be 
expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) which would render the amounts write off bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(ii) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company misleading; or

(iii) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which 
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading; or

(iv) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities 
of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(c) At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
period which secures the liability of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial period 
other than those arising in the normal course of business of the Group and of the Company.

(d) In the opinion of the Directors:

(i) no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial period which will or may affect the ability of the Group 
and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due;

(ii) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial period were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, except as disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements; and 

(iii) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the 
operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial period in which this report is made. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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siGniFicant events 

The significant events are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

subsequent events 

The subsequent events are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.

chanGe oF naMe

On 10 October 2014, the Company changed its name from Extol MSC Berhad to AppAsia Berhad.

chanGe oF Financial year enD

The financial year end of the Group and of the Company was changed from 30 September to    31 December. Accordingly, 
the current financial statements are prepared for fifteen months from 1 October 2013 to 31 December 2014. As a 
result the comparative figures stated in the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes of equity and 
statements of cash flows and the related notes are not comparable. 

auDitors

The Auditors, Messrs UHY, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 10 April 2015.

 toh honG chye WonG nGai PeoW

KUALA LUMPUR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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We, the undersigned, being two of the Directors of the Company, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, 
the financial statements set out on pages 38 to 97 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2014 and of their 
financial performance and cash flows for the financial period then ended.

The supplementary information set out in Note 38 to the financial statements on page 98 have been compiled in 
accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 10 April 2015.

 toh honG chye WonG nGai PeoW

KUALA LUMPUR

STATEMENT BY 
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

STATUTORY 
DECLARATION

Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, TOH HONG CHYE, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of APPASIA BERHAD (formerly 
known as Extol MSC Berhad), do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial 
statements set out on pages 38 to 98 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same 
to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed 
at KUALA LUMPUR in the state of Federal Territory 
on 10 April 2015

)
)
)

toh honG chye

Before me, 

Mohan a.s. ManiaM
no. W 521

coMMissioner For oaths
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rePort on the Financial stateMents

We have audited the financial statements of AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad), which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company 
for the financial period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
as set out on pages 38 to 97.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as 
of 31 December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial period then ended in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ 
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF APPASIA BERHAD
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)(Company No.: 643683-U (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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rePort on other leGal anD reGulatory requireMents

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the followings:

(i) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
and its subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act.

(ii) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the 
Company’s financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation 
of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required 
by us for those purposes.

(iii) The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies did not contain any qualification or any 
adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

other rePortinG resPonsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 38 on page 98 is solely disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised 
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

other Matters

(1) This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

(2) The financial statements of AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) for the financial year ended 
30 September 2013 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial 
statements on 20 January 2014.

uhy
Firm Number: AF 1411
Chartered Accountants

yeoh aiK chuan
Approved Number: 2239/07/16 (J)
Chartered Accountant

KUALA LUMPUR

10 April 2015

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF APPASIA BERHAD
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)(Company No.: 643683-U (Incorporated in Malaysia)
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 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
 note rM rM rM rM

assets

non-current assets
Property, plant and 
 equipment 4  331,998   590,581   160,953   60,552
Investment properties 5  1,328,080   1,378,880   –   – 
Product development 
 expenditure 6  –   2,862,997   –   2,726,776
Investment in subsidiary 
 companies 7  –   –   9,506,504   8,281,500
Goodwill on consolidation 8  –   3,541,003   –   –

   1,660,078   8,373,461   9,667,457   11,068,828 

current assets
Inventories 9  –   1,107,033   –   – 
Trade receivables 10  1,400,038   2,794,332   –   – 
Other receivables 11  800,056   754,441   438,020   110,086
Amount due from 
 subsidiary companies 12  –   –   4,415,226   3,906,448
Tax recoverable   69,022   –   –   –
Fixed deposits with 
 licensed bank 13  308,158   981,213   –   –
Cash and bank balances 14  2,178,816   5,308,353   624,274   3,140,398

  4,756,090   10,945,372   5,477,520   7,156,932

total assets   6,416,168   19,318,833   15,144,977   18,225,760

STATEMENTS OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2014
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 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
 note rM rM rM rM

equity

Share capital 15  13,895,640   12,632,400   13,895,640   12,632,400 
Share premium 16  4,081,846   4,167,884   4,081,846   4,167,884 
(Accumulated losses)/
 Retained earnings   (13,053,374)  148,038   (4,362,049)  1,213,074
 
total equity   4,924,112   16,948,322   13,615,437   18,013,358 

liabilities

non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability 17  75,530   –   75,530   – 
Bank borrowing 18  –   500,000   –   – 
Deferred tax liabilities 19  –   113,549   –   –

   75,530   613,549   75,530   – 

current liabilities
Trade payables 20  547,606   864,848   –   – 
Other payables 21  330,631   306,262   218,721   212,402 
Amount due to
 subsidiary companies 12  –   –   1,197,000   – 
Finance lease liability 17  38,289   –   38,289   – 
Bank borrowing 18  500,000   500,000   –   – 
Provision for taxation   –   85,852   –   –

   1,416,526   1,756,962   1,454,010   212,402

total liabillities   1,492,056   2,370,511   1,529,540   212,402

total equity and liabilities   6,416,168   19,318,833   15,144,977   18,225,760 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2014

[Continued]
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STATEMENTS OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

 Group company
  1.10.2013  1.10.2012  1.10.2013  1.10.2012 
   to   to   to   to 
   31.12.2014   30.9.2013 31.12.2014   30.9.2013 
 note  rM   rM   rM   rM 

Revenue 22  14,927,480   13,509,218   5,013,029   2,398,720 

Cost of sales   (13,244,309)  (8,668,837)  (4,375,934)  (188,080)

Gross profit   1,683,171   4,840,381   637,095   2,210,640 

Other income   387,591   412,893   110,032   120,808 

Administrative expenses   (4,662,101)  (4,114,859)  (2,608,713)  (2,421,539)

Selling and distribution expenses   (561,124)  (579,211)  (277,851)  (215,978)

Other expenses   (10,113,914)  (1,941,786)  (3,434,669)  (725,268)

Finance costs 23  (70,990)  (34,639)  (1,017) – 

Loss before taxation 24  (13,337,367)  (1,417,221)  (5,575,123)  (1,031,337)

Taxation 25  135,955   60,768   –  (420)

Net loss for the financial
 period/year, representing  total 
 comprehensive income
 for the financial period/year   (13,201,412)  (1,356,453)  (5,575,123)  (1,031,757)

Net loss for the financial  
 period/year attributable to:
  Owners of the parent   (13,201,412)  (1,356,453)

loss per share

Basic loss per share (sen) 26 (9.73)  (1.07)

Diluted loss per share (sen) 26  N/A   N/A 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 attributable to the owners of the Parent
    retained
  non-Distributable earnings/
  share share (accumulated total
  capital Premium loss) equity
 note rM rM rM rM

Group

At 1 October 2012   12,632,400   4,167,884   1,504,491   18,304,775 

Net loss for the financial year, 
 representing total comprehensive
 income for the financial year  – –  (1,356,453)  (1,356,453)

At 30 September 2013   12,632,400   4,167,884   148,038   16,948,322 

Issued of shares 15, 16  1,263,240   63,162   –   1,326,402 

Shares issuance expenses 16 –   (149,200)  –  (149,200)

Net loss for the financial period, 
 representing total comprehensive
 income for the financial period  – –   (13,201,412)  (13,201,412)

At 31 December 2014   13,895,640   4,081,846   (13,053,374)  4,924,112 

company

At 1 October 2012   12,632,400   4,167,884   2,244,831   19,045,115 

Net loss for the financial year, 
 representing total comprehensive
 income for the financial year  – –  (1,031,757)  (1,031,757)

At 30 September 2013   12,632,400   4,167,884   1,213,074   18,013,358 

Issued of shares 15, 16  1,263,240   63,162  –  1,326,402 

Shares issuance expenses 16 –  (149,200) –  (149,200)

Net loss for the financial period,
 representing total comprehensive
 income for the financial period  – –  (5,575,123)  (5,575,123)

At 31 December 2014   13,895,640   4,081,846   (4,362,049)  13,615,437 

STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 Group company
   1.10.2013   1.10.2012   1.10.2013   1.10.2012 
   to   to   to   to 
   31.12.2014   30.9.2013   31.12.2014   30.9.2013 
   rM   rM   rM   rM 

cash Flows From operating activities
Loss before taxation   (13,337,367)  (1,417,221)  (5,575,123)  (1,031,337)

Adjustments for:
 Amortisation of product
  development expenditure   574,497   845,040   466,730   622,306 
 Bad debts written off   391,987   –   21,276   – 
 Depreciation of investment properties   50,800   40,640   –   – 
 Depreciation of property, plant 
  and equipment   235,009   557,124   44,498   83,717 
 Goodwill written off   3,541,003   –   –   – 
 Impairment on trade receivables   91,170   –   –   – 
 Interest expense   70,990   34,639   1,017   – 
 Inventories written off   663,267   –   –   – 
 Product development expediture
  written off   2,524,797   –   2,260,046   – 
 Property, plant and equipment
  written off   418,725   –   33,004   – 
 Gain on disposal of property,
  plant and equipment   (32,999)  –   (32,999)  – 
 Unrealised gain on foreign exchange   (9,826)  –   –   – 
  Interest income   (102,588)  (131,829)  (57,580)  (88,706)

Operating loss before working
 capital changes carried down   (4,920,535)  (71,607)  (2,839,131)  (414,020)

 Change in working capital
  Inventories   443,766   (882,297)  –   – 
 Trade receivables   1,191,983   224,853   –   – 
 Other receivables   (326,461)  (311,842)  (349,210)  (9,360)
 Trade payables   (317,242)  (875,662)  –   – 
 Other payables   24,369   (205,175)  6,319   (26,582)
 Amount due from/to 
  subsidiary companies   –   –   (536,778)  185,241
 
   1,016,415   (2,050,123)  (879,669)  149,299
 
Cash used in operations    (3,904,120)  (2,121,730)  (3,718,800)  (264,721)
  Interest paid   (70,990)  (34,639)  (1,017)  – 
  Interest received   102,588   131,829   57,580   88,706 
  Tax paid   (132,468)  (217,938)  –   (420)

Net cash used in operating activities   (4,004,990)  (2,242,478)  (3,662,237)  (176,435)

STATEMENTS OF 
CASH FLOWS
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014
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 Group company
   1.10.2013   1.10.2012   1.10.2013   1.10.2012 
   to   to   to   to 
   31.12.2014   30.9.2013   31.12.2014   30.9.2013 
   rM   rM   rM   rM 

cash Flows From investing activities
 Addition of product development
 expenditure (Note 6)   (236,297)  –   –   – 
 Purchase of property, plant
  and equipment [Note 4(a)]   (275,152)  (76,685)  (57,904)  (278)
 Proceeds from disposal of 
  property, plant and equipment   33,000   –   33,000   – 
 Investment in subsidiary companies   –   –   (4)  –

Net cash used in investing activities   (478,449)  (76,685)  (24,908)  (278)

cash Flows From Financing activities
 Proceeds from issuance of 
  shares (Note 15 & 16)   1,326,402   –   1,326,402   – 
 Shares issuance expenses
  (Note 16)   (149,200)  –   (149,200)  – 
 Withdrawal/(Addition) of
  fixed deposits pledged   673,055   (127,115)  –   – 
 Repayment of finance lease liabilities   (6,181)  (16,284)  (6,181)  – 
 Drawdown of term loan   –   1,000,000   –   – 
 Repayment of term loan   (500,000)  –   –   –
 
Net cash from financing activities   1,344,076   856,601   1,171,021   – 

net decrease in cash and 
 cash equivalents   (3,139,363)  (1,462,562)  (2,516,124)  (176,713)
effect of exchange translation
 differences on cash and cash 
 equivalents   9,826   –   –   – 
cash and cash equivalents  
 at beginning of the financial 
 period/year   5,308,353   6,770,915   3,140,398   3,317,111 

cash and cash equivalents  
 at the end of the financial
 period/year   2,178,816   5,308,353   624,274   3,140,398 

cash and cash equivalents   
 at the end of the financial 
 period/year comprises:
 Fixed deposits with licensed banks   308,158   981,213   –   – 
 Cash and bank balances   2,178,816   5,308,353   624,274   3,140,398
 
   2,486,974   6,289,566   624,274   3,140,398 
 Less: Fixed deposits pledged with 
 licensed banks  (308,158)  (981,213)  –   – 

    2,178,816   5,308,353   624,274   3,140,398 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial period ended 31 December 2014

[Continued]

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. corPorate inForMation

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on ACE 
Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. On 10 October 2014, the Company changed its name for Extol MSC 
Berhad to AppAsia Berhad.

 
 The registered office of the Company is located at Suite 10.03, Level 10, The Gardens South Tower, Mid Valley 

City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur.

 The principal place of business of the Company is located at E-10-4, 10th Floor, Megan Avenue 1, Jalan Tun 
Razak, 50400 Kuala Lumpur. 

 The principal activity of the Company is that of research and development and sale of Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) security systems and provision of related professional services which are directly and indirectly 
linked to ICT and investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Notes 
7. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial period. 

2. basis oF PreParation 
 

(a) Statement of compliance

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, unless otherwise indicated in the significant accounting policies below. 

 adoption of new and amended standards and ic interpretation 

 During the financial period, the Group and the Company have adopted the following applicable amendments 
to MFRSs and IC Interpretations issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) that are 
mandatory for current financial period:

Amendments to MFRS 10, 
 MFRS 12 and MFRS 127

Investment Entities

Amendments to MFRS 132 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to MFRS 136 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

Amendments to MFRS 139 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

IC Interpretation 21 Levies

 Adoption of above amendments to MFRSs and IC Interpretation did not have any significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

2. basis oF PreParation (cont’D)
 

(a) Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

 standards issued but not yet effective

 The Group and the Company have not applied the following new MFRSs and amendments to MFRSs that 
have been issued by the MASB but are not yet effective for the Group and for the Company:

Effective dates 
for financial 

periods 
beginning 
on or after

Amendments to MFRS 119 Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to 
 MFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to 
 MFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

1 July 2014

MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 116 
 and MFRS 138

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 127 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 10 
 and MFRS 128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2016

Annual Improvements to 
 MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 10, 
 MFRS 12 and MFRS 128 

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception 

1 January 2016

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in 
July 2014)

1 January 2018

 The Group and the Company intend to adopt the above MFRSs when they become effective.

 The initial application of the abovementioned MFRSs are not expected to have any significant impacts on 
the financial statements of the Group and the Company except as mentioned below:

 MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014)

 MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014) replaces earlier versions of MFRS 9 and introduces a package 
of improvements which includes a classification and measurement model, a single forward looking ‘expected 
loss’ impairment model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. MFRS 9 when effective 
will replace MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. basis oF PreParation (cont’D)
 

(a) Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

 standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

 MFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair 
value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to 
be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes 
in fair value in other comprehensive income not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model 
that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in MFRS 139. For financial liabilities there were no 
changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in 
other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. MFRS 9 relaxes 
the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires 
an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ 
to be the same as the one management actually use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous 
documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under MFRS 139.

 The adoption of MFRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently examining the 
financial impact of adopting MFRS 9.

 MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 MFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users 
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good 
or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The 
standard replaces MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and related IC Interpretations. 
The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of this Standard.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Group’s and the Company’s 
functional currency and all values have been rounded to the nearest RM except when otherwise stated. 

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period are set out below:

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (Note 4)

 The Group regularly review the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such 
as business plan and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. Future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes 
in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
would increase the recorded depreciation and decrease the value of property, plant and equipment.
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2. basis oF PreParation (cont’D)
 

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

 Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies

 The Company has recognised impairment loss in respect of its investments in subsidiary companies. The 
Company carried out the impairment test based on the estimation of the higher of the value-in-use or the 
fair value less cost to sell of the cash-generating units to which the investments in subsidiary companies 
belong to. Estimating the recoverable amount requires the Company to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to determine a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

 The carrying amount at the end of reporting period for investments in subsidiary companies is disclosed in 
Note 7.

 Impairment of goodwill on consolidation

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use 
amount requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating 
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 
The impairment assessment of goodwill is disclosed in Note 8.

 Impairment of loans and receivables

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
receivable is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivable and default 
or significant delay in payments.

 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amounts 
at the end of the reporting period for loans and receivables are disclosed in Notes 10 and 11 respectively.

 Development costs

 The Group capitalises development costs for a project in accordance with the accounting policy. Initial 
capitalisation of development costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economic 
feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone 
according to an established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised, 
management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generations of the project, discount 
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. 

 The carrying amount at the end of reporting period for product development expenditure is disclosed in 
Note 6.

 Income taxes

 Judgment is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and 
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

 The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made. Details of income tax expense are disclosed in Note 25.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. basis oF PreParation (cont’D)
 

(c) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

 Contingent liabilities

 Determination of the treatment of contingent liabilities is based on management’s view of the expected 
outcome of the contingencies after consulting legal counsel for litigation cases and internal and external 
experts to the Group, for matters in the ordinary course of business. 

 Fair value of financial instruments

 Management uses valuation techniques in measuring the fair value of financial instruments where active 
market quotes are not available. Details of the assumptions used are given in the Note 31(d) regarding 
financial assets and liabilities. In applying the valuation techniques management makes maximum use of 
market inputs, and uses estimates and assumptions that are, as far as possible, consistent with observable 
data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where applicable data is not observable, 
management uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market participants would make. These 
estimates may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end 
of the reporting period.

3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies

 The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies set out below, consistently throughout all 
periods presented in the financial statements unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basic of consolidation

(i) Subsidiary companies

 Subsidiary companies are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

 Acquisition-related costs are expensed off in profit or loss as incurred.

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an 
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(a) Basic of consolidation (Cont’d)

(i) Subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

 Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between 
Group co mpanies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated only if there is no indication of 
impairment. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiary companies have been changed to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are stated at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. Where an indication 
of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in 
accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

(ii) Change in ownership interests in subsidiary companies without change of control

 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value 
of net assets of the subsidiary company is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(iii) Disposal of subsidiary companies

 If the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company, 
including any goodwill, and non-controlling interests are derecognised at their carrying value on the 
date that control is lost. Any remaining investment in the entity is recognised at fair value. The difference 
between the fair value of consideration received and the amounts derecognised and the remaining 
fair value of the investment is recognised as a gain or loss on disposal in profit or loss. Any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as 
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

(iv) Goodwill on consolidation

 The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration 
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is 
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary company acquired (ie. a bargain purchase), 
the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequent when 
there is objective evidence that the carrying amount may be impaired. The policy of recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

 
(b) Foreign currency translation

 Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency of the respective Group entities 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)
 

(b) Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
end of the reporting period are included in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operation. These are initially taken directly to 
the foreign currency translation reserve within equity until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which 
time they are recognised in profit or loss. Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of 
the Company’s net investment in foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the Company’s financial 
statements or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate.

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in 
profit or loss for the reporting period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary 
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange 
differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

 
(c) Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
3(h)(i).

(i) Recognition and measurement

 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, cost 
of replacing component parts of the assets, and the present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning of the assets after their use. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance 
with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

 The cost of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based 
on fair value at acquisition date. The fair value of property is the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently 
and without compulsion. The fair value of other items of plant and equipment is based on the quoted 
market prices for similar items.

 
 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 

are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

 Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)
 

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(iii) Depreciation

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the profit or loss on straight line basis 
to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life. 

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows:

Freehold office buildings 2%
Furniture and fittings 20%
Office equipment 20%
Computers 50%
Hardware appliances 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Renovation 50%

 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous 
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in 
the property, plant and equipment.

(d) Leases

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specific in an arrangement. 

(i) Finance lease

 Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at 
an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to that asset. 

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss. Contingent lease 
payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the 
lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

 Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as a property, plant and equipment. 

(ii) Operating lease

 Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating 
lease, the leased assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest 
held under an operating lease, which is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, 
is classified as investment property.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(d) Leases (Cont’d)

(ii) Operating lease (Cont’d)

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of 
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss 
in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid land lease payments. 

(e) Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
values of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise. 
The fair values are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to 
both the location and the nature of the investment property and supported by market evidence.

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they are disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in the profit or loss in the reporting period of 
retirement or disposal.

 When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in 
its use, any difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately 
prior to transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in profit 
or loss. Upon disposal of an investment property, any surplus previously recorded in equity is transferred 
to retained earnings, the transfer is not made through profit or loss.

 When an item of inventory or property development is transferred to investment property following a change 
in its use, any difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its carrying amount 
immediately prior to the transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

 When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment or inventories, 
its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

(f) Intangible assets

(i) Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs

 Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are 
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

•	 the	technical	feasibility	of	completing	the	intangible	asset	so	that	the	asset	will	be	available	for	
use or sale;

•	 	its	intention	to	complete	and	its	ability	and	intention	to	use	or	sell	the	asset;
•	 	how	the	asset	will	generate	future	economic	benefits;
•	 	the	availability	of	resources	to	complete;	and
•		 the	ability	to	measure	reliably	the	expenditure	during	development.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(f) Intangible assets (Cont’d)

(i) Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs (Cont’d)

 The amount initially recognised for internally–generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where 
no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

 Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. Amortisation is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation 
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

(ii) Intangible assets acquired separately

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for 
on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(iii) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are 
initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as 
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

(iv) Derecognition of intangible assets

 An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

 The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(h)(i).

(g) Financial assets

 Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

 Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 The Group and the Company classify their financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired at initial recognition, into loans and receivables.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(g) Financial assets (Cont’d)

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.

 After initial recognition, financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

 Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular 
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date 
that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset. 

 Derecognition

 A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset 
has expired or has been transferred and the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of consideration received and any cumulative gains or loss that had been recognised 
in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

(h) Impairment of assets

(i) Non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories) are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have 
indefinite useful lives, or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each 
period at the same time.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or cash-generating units. Subject to operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill 
impairment testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so 
that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the 
purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value-in-use and its fair 
value less costs of disposal. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.

 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which such impairment loss is recognised directly against any 
revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount 
in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts of 
the other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(h) Impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Non-financial assets (Cont’d)

 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 
its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

(ii) Financial assets 

 All financial assets, other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss, investments in 
subsidiary companies, associates and joint ventures, are assessed at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the receivable and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of 
financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio 
past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on receivables.

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Receivables together with 
the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised in profit or loss, the 
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 
what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the 
impairment is reversed. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined on the first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable value. 

 Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with banks and highly 
liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statements 
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits, if 
any.

(k) Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into 
and the definition of financial liabilities.

 Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities at initial recognition, into the following categories:

(i) Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and loans 
and borrowings.

 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified 
as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

 Gains and losses on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

(ii) Financial guarantee contracts

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specific payment to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due 
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is 
measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

 A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(l) Offsetting of financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(m) Share capital

 Ordinary shares 

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments. Ordinary shares are 
recorded at the nominal value of shares issued. Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

 Dividends on ordinary shares are accounted for in equity as appropriation of retained earnings and recognised 
as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

(n) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

 Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the 
obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related 
provision. The relating expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

(o) Revenue

(i) Sale of goods

 Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
allowances, trade discount and volume rebates. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when 
the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer, recovery of 
the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods

(ii) Rendering of services

 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the profit or loss based on the value of services 
performed and invoiced to customers during the period. 

(iii) Rental income

 Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of 
incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on 
a straight-line basis. 

(iv) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on accruals basis using the effective interest method.
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(p) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for theirs intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

 The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure 
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or 
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or 
sale are interrupted or completed.

 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

(q) Income taxes

 Tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method for all temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 The measurement of deferred tax is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting period, except for investment properties 
carried at fair value model. Where investment properties measured using fair value model, the amount of 
deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their 
carrying amounts at the the end of the reporting period unless the property is depreciable and is held with 
the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, 
rather than through sale. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or 
on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised. 
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3. siGniFicant accountinG Policies (cont’D)

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits 

 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short 
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick and medical leave are recognised when 
the absences occur.

 The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount 
expected to be paid as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the end of the 
reporting period.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

 As required by law, companies in Malaysia contributions to the state pension scheme, the Employee 
Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as 
incurred. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company have no further payment 
obligations.

(s) Segment reporting

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments and make overall strategic decisions. The Group’s 
operating segments are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and 
services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products 
and serves different markets. 

(t) Contingencies

 Where it is not probable that an inflow or an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the asset or the obligation is disclosed as a contingent asset or contingent 
liability, unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, 
are also disclosed as contingent assets or contingent liabilities unless the probability of inflow or outflow of 
economic benefits is remote.
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4. ProPerty, Plant anD equiPMent (cont’D)

  office  Motor
  equipment computers vehicles total
  rM rM rM rM

company
31.12.2014
At 1 October 2013   48,754   291,939   251,457   592,150 
Additions   1,325   42,360   134,219   177,904 
Disposal   –   –   (251,457)  (251,457)
Written off   (50,079)  (291,941)  –   (342,020)

At 31 December 2014   –   42,358   134,219   176,577 

accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2013   14,070   266,072   251,456   531,598 
Charge for the financial period   3,751   29,562   11,185   44,498 
Disposal   –   –   (251,456)  (251,456)
Written off   (17,821)  (291,195)  –   (309,016)

At 31 December 2014   –   4,439   11,185   15,624 

carrying amount
At 31 December 2014   –   37,919   123,034   160,953 

30.9.2013
At 1 October 2012   48,754   291,661   251,457   591,872 
Addition   –   278   –   278

 At 30 September 2013  48,754   291,939   251,457   592,150 

accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2012   9,155   187,270   251,456   447,881 
Charge for the financial year   4,915   78,802   –   83,717 

At 30 September 2013   14,070   266,072   251,456   531,598 

carrying amount
At 30 September 2013   34,684   25,867   1   60,552 
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4. ProPerty, Plant anD equiPMent (cont’D)

(a) The aggregate additional cost for the property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company 
during the financial period/year acquired under finance lease financing and cash payments are as follows:

 Group company  
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013

   rM rM rM rM

Aggregate costs   395,152   76,685   177,904   278 
Less: Finance lease financing   (120,000) –   (120,000) –

Cash payments   275,152   76,685   57,904   278

(b) Assets held under finance leases

 At 31 December 2014, the net carrying amount of leased motor vehicle of the Group and of the Company 
was RM123,034 and RM123,034 (30.9.2013: RMNil and RMNil) respectively.

5. investMent ProPerties

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Freehold land and building

cost
At 1 October      2,032,000   – 
Transferred from property, plant and equipment   –   2,032,000

At 31 December/30 September     2,032,000   2,032,000 

less: accumulated depreciation
At 1 October      653,120  – 
Transferred from property, plant and equipment   –   612,480 
Charge for the financial period/year    50,800   40,640

At 31 December/30 September     703,920   653,120 

carrying amount
At 31 December/30 September     1,328,080   1,378,880 

Fair value of investment properties
At 31 December/30 September     4,030,000   3,887,580 
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5. investMent ProPerties (cont’D)

(a) Fair value basis of investment properties

 The fair value of the Group’s investment property was arrived at by reference to market indication of 
transaction prices for similar properties.

(b) Income and expenses recognised in profit or loss

 The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties: 

  Group
    1.10.2013 1.10.2012
    to to
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

 Rental income     139,200 122,700

6. ProDuct DeveloPMent exPenDiture

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

cost
At 1 October    8,591,267   8,591,267   6,223,063   6,223,063 
Additions   236,297   –   –   – 
Written off   (8,827,564)  –   (6,223,063)  –

At 31 December/30 September   –   8,591,267   –   6,223,063 

less: accumulated amortisation
At 1 October    5,443,848   4,598,808   3,211,865   2,589,559 
Amortisation during the     
  financial period/year   574,497   845,040   466,730   622,306 
Written off   (6,018,345)  –   (3,678,595)  – 

At 31 December/30 September   –   5,443,848   –   3,211,865 

less: accumulated impairment
At 1 October    284,422   284,422   284,422   284,422 
Written off   (284,422)  –   (284,422)  –

At 31 December/30 September   –   284,422   –   284,422 

carrying amount
At 31 December/30 September   –   2,862,997   –   2,726,776 
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7. investMent in subsiDiary coMPanies 

  company 
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013
    rM rM
  

in Malaysia  
Unquoted shares, at cost     9,506,504   8,281,500

 Details of subsidiary companies are as follows:

name of company country of 
incorporation 

 equity interest Principal activities
31.12.2014 30.9.2013

 % %

Direct holding:

Extol Corporation Sdn. Bhd.
 (formerly known as Extol
 Corporation (M) Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 100 Sales and research and
 development security
 technology, security
 maintenance and
  professional security
  services and training.

Extol Ventures
  Sdn. Bhd.

 Malaysia 100 100 Investment holding,
 trading of computer
 hardware, software
 related equipment 
 and software
 development.

Extol International Sdn. Bhd.
 (formerly known as Innodium
 Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 – Software development
 and trading in software
 products.

AppAsia Tech Sdn. Bhd.
 (formerly known as Extol IP 
 Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100  – Information Technology
 Systems and Applications
 development related 
 business.

AppAsia Studio Sdn. Bhd.
 (formerly known as Extol
  Apps Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia 100 – Information Technology
 Systems and Applications
 development related 
 business.

Indirect holding:

Indirect holding: Subsidiary 
 company of Extol Ventures
 Sdn. Bhd.

Extol International Sdn. Bhd.
 (formerly known as Innodium
 Sdn. Bhd.)

 Malaysia –  100 Software development
  and trading in
  software products.
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7. investMent in subsiDiary coMPanies (cont’D)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiary companies

(i) On 30 September 2014, the Company had acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in 
AppAsia Tech Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Tech”) (formerly known as Extol IP Sdn. Bhd.) from Toh Hong Chye 
and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration of RM2.00 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, 
AppAsia Tech became a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

(ii) On 30 September 2014, the Company had acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in 
AppAsia Studio Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Studio”) (formerly known as Extol Apps Sdn. Bhd.) from Toh 
Hong Chye and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration of RM2.00 (“Acquisition”). Following the 
Acquisition, AppAsia Studio became a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

 Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary companies

       rM 
 
Purchase consideration settled in cash     4 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired     4

       – 

 Impact of the acquisition on the Statements of Comprehensive Income

 From the date of acquisition, acquired subsidiary companies have contributed RMNil and RM159,643 to 
the Group’s revenue and loss for the financial period respectively. If the combination had taken place at the 
beginning of the financial period, the Group’s revenue and profit for the financial period from their operations 
would have been RMNil and RM159,643 respectively.

 There was no acquisition in the previous financial year.

(b) Internal reorganisation

 The Company or AppAsia has embarked on an internal reorganisation exercise which involved a wholly-
owned subsidiary company of the Company i.e. Extol International Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Innodium 
Sdn. Bhd.) (“Extol International”). 

 The internal reorganisation effective on 30 September 2014, involved the transfer of the entire issued and 
paid up share capital in Extol International held by Extol Ventures Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of the Company to Appasia, at the total consideration of RM1,225,000. Consequently, Extol 
International became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary company of AppAsia.

 There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiary companies to transfer funds to the Group in 
the form of cash dividends or repayment of loans and advances. 



67 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

8. GooDWill on consoliDation

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

At 1 October      3,541,003   3,541,003 
Written off     (3,541,003) –

At 31 December/30 September    –  3,541,003 

 During the financial period, as a result of unexpected poor performance in the business unit providing “Managed 
Security Solutions” (“MSS”) and “Secured Enterprise Solutions” (“SES”), the Group carried out a review of the 
recoverable of the unit.

 The recoverable amount of MSS & SES was based on its value-in-use as determined by the discounting cash 
flow to be generated by the unit. The carrying amount of the unit of RM3,541,003 was determined to be higher 
than its recoverable amount and the goodwill on consolidation amounting to RM3,541,003 was fully written off. 
The amount written off is recorded within other expenses in the statements of comprehensive income.

 In the previous financial year, goodwill on consolidation is stated at cost and reviewed for impairment annually. 
Goodwill on consolidation has been allocated for impairment testing to the Group’s cash generating unit (“CGU”). 
The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the goodwill on consolidation, and determined that the goodwill on 
consolidation is not impaired. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations 
using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a period of ten years.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

     30.9.2013
      %

Growth     5 - 20
Discount rate     10

 Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on the past performance and its expectations of 
market development. The growth rate used is based on past years’ achievement and the expected future contracts 
to be secured. The discount rate used reflects the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU.

9. inventories

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

at cost
Software license and hardware appliances    –  1,107,033 

recognised in profit or loss: 
Inventories written off     663,267   – 
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10. traDe receivables

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Trade receivables     1,491,208   2,794,332 
Less: Acccumulated impairment losses    (91,170)  –

      1,400,038   2,794,332 

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 60 days (30.9.2013: 60 days) term. They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 The Group’s credit exposures are concentrated mainly on 2 (30.9.2013: 3) debtors, which accounted for 87% 
(30.9.2013: 76%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2014.

 Movements in allowance for impairment losses (individually impaired) of trade receivables are as follows:

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

At 1 October    –  –
Impairment losses recognised     91,170   –

At 31 December/30 September     91,170   –

 Analysis of the trade receivables ageing as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

 
  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Neither past due nor impaired     450,301   552,722 
Past due not impaired:
 Less than 30 days    –   302,800 
 131 to 60 days     150,773   1,361,797 
 More than 60 days     798,964   577,013
 
      949,737   2,241,610

      1,400,038   2,794,332 
Impaired     91,170   –

      1,491,208   2,794,332 

 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

 Trade receivables that neither past due nor impaired are debtors with good payment records with the Group. 
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10. traDe receivables (cont’D)

 Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

 As at 31 December 2014, trade receivables of RM949,737 (30.9.2013: RM2,241,610) were past due but not 
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers from whom there is no recent history of default. 

 Trade receivables that are impaired

 The trade receivables of the Group that are individually assessed to be impaired amounting to RM91,170 (30.9.2013: 
RMNil), related to a customer that are in financial difficulties, have defaulted on payments. These balances are 
expected to be recovered through the debts recovery process.

The currency exposure profiles of trade receivables are as follows:

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

United States Dollar    –  480,003 

11. other receivables 

  Group   company 
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM
    

Other receivables  –  9,700  –  3,000 
Deposits   217,567   318,477   84,735   77,644 
Prepayments   582,489   426,264   353,285   29,442

    800,056   754,441   438,020   110,086 

12. aMount Due FroM/(to) subsiDiary coMPanies 

 The amounts due from/(to) subsidiary companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable upon demand. 
The amounts arose from trade and non-trade transactions.

13. FixeD DePosits With licenseD banKs

 The fixed deposits with licensed banks are pledged to licensed banks for bank guarantee granted to a subsidiary 
company.

 The interest rate and maturities of deposits of the Group at the end of the reporting period are 3.15% (30.9.2013: 
2.90%) and 30 days (30.9.2013: 30 days) respectively.
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14. cash anD banK balances

 The currency exposure profiles of cash and bank balances are as follows:
    
 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

    
United States Dollar   680,988   1,436,904   103,549   8,362 
Euro Dollar  –  137,192  – –
British Pound Sterling   –  90,732  – –

15. share caPital

  Group and company
  number of shares amount
   31.12.2014   30.9.2013   31.12.2014   30.9.2013 

    units   units   rM   rM 
    
ordinary shares of rM0.10 each
    
authorised
At 1 October/31 December/ 
  30 September   1,000,000,000   1,000,000,000   100,000,000   100,000,000 

issued and fully paid
At 1 October    126,324,000   126,324,000   12,632,400   12,632,400 
Issued during the financial    
  period/year   12,632,400   –  1,263,240  –

At 31 December/30 September   138,956,400   126,324,000   13,895,640   12,632,400

 During the current financial period, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 126,324,000 
to 138,956,400 through the issuance of 12,632,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each pursuant to private placement 
at an issue price of RM0.105 per placement share.

 The new ordinary shares issued during the financial period rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company. 

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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16. share PreMiuM

   Group and company
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM
  
At 1 October      4,167,884   4,167,884 
Add: Premium arises from private placement    63,162   – 
Less: Share issuance expenses     (149,200)  –

At 31 December/30 September     4,081,846   4,167,884 

 Share premium comprises the premium paid on subscription of shares in the Company over and above the par 
value of the shares. 

 The share premium is not distributable by way of cash dividends and may be utilised in the manner set out in 
Section 60(3) of the Companies Act, 1965.

17. Finance lease liability

   Group and company
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Minimum lease payments  
Within one year     43,188   –
Later than one year and not later than two years    43,188  –
Later than two years and not later than five years    35,966   –

      122,342  –
Less: Future finance charges    (8,523) –

Present value of minimum lease payments    113,819  – 

Present value of minimum lease payments  
Within one year     38,289   – 
Later than one year and not later than two years    40,352   –
Later than two years and not later than five years    35,178  –

      113,819  –

analysed as:
Repayable within twelve months     38,289  –
Repayable after twelve months     75,530   –

      113,819   – 

The finance lease liability interest is charged at a rate of 2.65% (30.9.2013: Nil) per annum.
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18. banK borroWinG

   Group and company
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Non-Current Liability
Secured
Term loan - Islamic financing     –   500,000 

current liability
Secured
Term loan - Islamic financing     500,000   500,000

      500,000   1,000,000 

 In previous financial year, the Group secured a project financing facility in accordance with the financing procedure 
under the Syariah concept of Murabahah from Malaysia Debt Ventures Berhad. The facility is repayable by two 
instalments in which the first instalment of RM500,000 will be due twelve months following the first disbursement. 
The balance of RM500,000 will be due twenty four months following the first disbursement. Based on the agreement, 
the total asset sell price payable by the subsidiary company is RM1,120,000.

 The securities of the facility area as follows:

(i) Debentures creating a first fixed and floating charge over a subsidiary company’s assets, present and future, 
wheresoever situated; and

(ii) Corporate Guarantee for the whole amount under the Facility from Holding Company, AppAsia Berhad 
(formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad).

19. DeFerreD tax liabilities

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

At 1 October   113,549   253,727  – – 
Recognised in profit or loss   (113,549)  (140,178) –  –

At 31 December/30 September  –   113,549  – –

 The net deferred tax liability and assets shown on the statements of financial position after appropriate offsetting 
are as follows:

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Deferred tax liability   35,020   123,549   25,100   9,560 
Deferred tax assets   (35,020)  (10,090)  (25,100)  (9,560)

   –   113,459   –   – 
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19. DeFerreD tax liabilities (cont’D)

 The components and movements of the deferred tax liability and assets prior to offsetting are as follows: 

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Deferred tax liability
Accelerated capital allowances   35,020   123,549   25,100   9,560 

Deferred tax assets
Unutilised capital allowancs   15,230   2,050   5,310   1,520 
Unutilised tax losses   19,790   8,040   19,790   8,040

    35,020   10,090   25,100   9,560 

 The deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following temporary differences due to 
uncertainty of its recoverability:

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013

Decelerated capital allowances   9,820  –  –  –
Unutilised capital allowances   357,050   161,500   – –
Unutilised tax losses   7,457,040   2,873,360   4,350,220   2,092,960

    7,823,910   3,034,860   4,350,220   2,092,960 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they may not have sufficient taxable 
profits to be used to offset or they have arisen in subsidiary companies that have a recent history of losses. 

20. traDe Payables

 The trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms received by the Group range from 
30 to 60 days (30.9.2013: 30 to 60 days).

 The currency exposure profile of trade payables are as follows:

  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

United States Dollar    –   597,645 
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21. other Payables
 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Other payables   259,704   230,686   201,721   195,902 
Accruals   50,127   75,576   17,000   16,500 
Deposits received   20,800  – –   –

    330,631   306,262   218,721   212,402 

22. revenue

 These represent billings for net invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered.

23. Finance costs

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

interest expense on:    
Banker’s acceptance  –  13,943  –  –
Finance lease   1,017   696   1,017   – 
Term loan   69,973   20,000  – –

    70,990   34,639   1,017  –



75 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

24. loss beFore taxation

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Amortisation of product
 development expenditures  574,497   845,040   466,730   622,306 
Auditors’ remuneration:
 - statutory   37,000   35,000   17,000   16,500 
 - others   3,000   3,000   3,000   3,000 
Bad debts written off   391,987   –   21,276   – 
Non-Executive Directors
 remuneration
 - Fees   175,935   –   175,935   – 
Depreciation of investment
 properties   50,800   40,640   –   – 
Depreciation of property,
 plant and equipment   235,009   557,124   44,498   83,717 
Goodwill written off   3,541,003   –   –   – 
Impairment on trade
 receivables   91,170   –   –   – 
Incorporation expenses   6,000   –   –   – 
Inventories written off   663,267   –   –   – 
Product development 
 expenditure written off   2,524,797   –   2,260,046   – 
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off   418,725   –   33,004   – 
Rental of equipment   542,956   –   542,956   – 
Rental of premises   711,188   614,250   95,862   304,701 
Gain on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment    (32,999)  –   (32,999)  – 
(Gain)/Loss in foreign exchange
 - realised   (1,086)  20,035   (18,673) – 
 - unrealised   (9,826)  –   –   – 
Interest income   (102,588)  (131,829)  (57,580)  (88,706)
Rental income from
 investment properties   (139,200)  (122,700)  –   – 
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25. taxation

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

tax expenses recognised
 in profit or loss
 Current tax provision   –   84,874   –   – 
 (Over)/Under provision
  in prior years   (22,406)  (5,464)  –   420

    (22,406)  79,410   –   420 

Deferred tax:
Relating to reversal of 
 temporary differences   (93,815)  (140,178)  –   – 
Over provision in prior years   (19,734)  –   –   –

    (113,549)  (140,178)  –   – 

    (135,955)  (60,768)  –   420 

 Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (30.9.2013: 25%) of the estimated assessable 
profits for the financial period/year. Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective 
jurisdictions.

 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income 
tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:



77 www.AppAsia.com ◄ Annual Report 2014

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

25. taxation (cont’D)

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Loss before taxation   (13,337,367)  (1,417,221)  (5,575,123)  (1,031,337)

At Malaysian statutory tax 
 rate of 25% (2013: 25%)   (3,334,340)  (354,305)  (1,393,780)  (257,834)
Income not subject to tax   (2,460)  (20,635)  –   – 
Deductible capital expenditure   –   14,667   –   – 
Expenses not deductible for 
 tax purposes   2,045,725   304,969   829,470   257,834 
Deferred tax assets not
 recognised   1,208,430   –   564,310   – 
Utilisation of previously
 unrecognised tax losses   (11,170)  –   –   – 
(Over)/Under provision of
 taxation in prior years   (22,406)  (5,464)  –   420 
Over provision of deferred 
 tax in prior year   (19,734)  –   –   –

Tax expense for the 
 financial period/year   (135,955)  (60,768)  –   420 

Income tax savings arising from tax losses:

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Income tax savings arising from
 utilisation of prior year losses
 previously not recognised   11,170  –  – –

 The Group and the Company have the following estimated unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses 
available for carry forward to set-off against future taxable profits. The said amounts are subject to approval by 
the tax authorities.

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Unutilised capital allowances   417,970   169,700   21,240   6,080 
Unutilised tax losses   7,536,200   2,905,520   4,429,380   2,125,120

    7,954,170   3,075,220   4,450,620   2,131,200 
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26. loss Per share

(a) Basic loss per share

 The basic loss per share are calculated based on the consolidated loss for the financial period/year attributable 
to the owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial 
period/year as follows: 

  Group 
    1.10.2013 1.10.2012
    to to
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013
    rM rM

  
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders    (13,201,412)  (1,356,453)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
 in issue (in shares)    135,667,000   126,324,000 

Basic loss per share (in sen)     (9.73)  (1.07)

(b) Diluted loss per share

 The Group and the Company have no dilution in their loss per ordinary share as there are no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares 
since the end of the financial period and before the authorisation of these financial statements except as 
disclosed in Note 33(a)(i) and 33(a)(v). 

27. staFF costs

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Fee    5,250   78,000   5,250   78,000 
Salaries and allowances   3,235,210   2,611,320   1,659,192   1,571,445 
Defined contribution plans   357,390   303,832   176,373   141,052 
Social security costs   26,166   22,750   11,110   10,683 
Other benefits   37,764  –  21,025  –

    3,661,780   3,015,902   1,872,950   1,801,180
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27. staFF costs (cont’D)

 Included in staff costs is aggregate amount of remuneration received and receivable by the Executive Directors 
of the Company and of the subsidiary companies during the financial period/year as below: 

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Executive Directors    
Fee    5,250   78,000   5,250   78,000 
Salaries and allowances   602,258   293,200   522,258   253,200 
Defined contribution plans   72,272   28,800   62,672   28,800 
Social security costs   1,343   620   930   620

     681,123   400,620   591,110   360,620

28. oPeratinG lease coMMitMent - as lessee

The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are: 
  
  Group
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013

     rM rM

Within one year     723,941   627,186 
Later than one year but not later than two years    904,926   141,390

      1,628,867   768,576 

29. relateD Party Disclosures

(a) Identifying of related parties

 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group or to the 
Company if the Group and the Company have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise 
significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the 
Group and the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. 
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. 
The key management personnel include all the Directors of the Group and certain members of senior 
management of the Group.

 The Group has related party relationship with its subsidiary companies and key management personnel.



80 AppAsia Berhad ► www.AppAsia.com

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

29. relateD Party Disclosures (cont’D)

(b) In addition to related party balances disclosed in Note 12, the significant related party transaction of the 
Group and of the Company are as follows:

    1.10.2013 1.10.2012
    to to
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013
    rM rM

Group
transactions with a Director  
Rental of premises paid/payable    90,720   –
  
transactions with a company in
 which a Director has substantial
 financial interest  
Provision of services     45,000  – 
  
company
transactions with subsidiary companies  
Royalties income received/receivable    –  187,978 
Sales      5,013,029   2,398,720 
Purchases     4,375,934  – 

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

 Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel are as follows: 

 Group  company
  1.10.2013 1.10.2012 1.10.2013 1.10.2012
  to to to to
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Salaries, fees and other    
 emoluments   608,851   371,820   528,438   331,820 
Defined contributions plan   72,272   28,800   62,672   28,800 

    681,123   400,620   591,110   360,620 
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30. seGMent inForMation

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business unit based on their products and services 
provided, as follows:

Managed Security Solutions (“MSS”) ICT security products and solutions such as hardware and 
software security solutions and services, consultancy, forensic 
research and training

Secured Enterprise Solutions (“SES”) Security-enhanced enterprise solutions

Others Trading in software products

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or 
loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

 Transactions between segments are carried out on agreed terms between both parties. The effects of such inter-
segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. The measurement basis and classification are consistent 
with those adopted in the previous financial year.

 Information about segment assets and liabilities are neither included in the internal management reports nor 
provided regularly to the management. Hence, no disclosures are made on segment assets and liabilities.

      Per
       consolidated 
       financial  
   Mss   ses   others   eliminations   statements 
   rM   rM   rM   rM   rM 

31.12.2014
revenue
External customers  6,723,647   8,139,316   64,517   –   14,927,480 
Inter segment  4,819,251   4,524,995   44,717   (9,388,963)  –

Total revenue  11,542,898   12,664,311   109,234   (9,388,963)  14,927,480 

segment results
Interest income  97,308   4,976   304   –   102,588 
Finance costs  (70,990)  –   –   –   (70,990)
Depreciation and
 amortisation  (858,111)  (708)  (1,487)  –   (860,306)
Other non-cash item  (7,314,205)  6,927   (280,846)  –   (7,588,124)
Segments (loss)
 /profit before taxation  (12,392,168)  40,110   (985,309)  –   (13,337,367)

assets
Addition to property,
 plant and equipment  346,458   –   48,694   –   395,152 
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30. seGMent inForMation (cont’D)

      Per
       consolidated 
       financial  
   Mss   ses   others   eliminations   statements 
   rM   rM   rM   rM   rM 

30.9.2013
revenue
External customers  12,790,218   719,000   –   –   13,509,218 
Inter segment  2,586,698   –   –   (2,586,698)  – 

total revenue  15,376,916   719,000   –   (2,586,698)  13,509,218 

segment results
Interest income  131,829   –   –   –   131,829 
Finance costs  (34,639)  –   –   –   (34,639)
Depreciation and
 amortisation  (1,442,804)  –   –   –   (1,442,804)
Segments loss
 before taxation  (1,169,221)  (248,000)  –   –   (1,417,221)

assets
Addition to property,
 plant and equipment  76,685   –   –   –   76,685 

(a) Eliminations

 Current taxes and deferred taxes are not allocated to those segments as they are managed on a group 
basis.

 Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Other non-cash income/(expense) consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to 
financial statements:

    1.10.2013 1.10.2012
    to to
    31.12.2014 30.9.2013
    rM rM

Bad debts written off     (391,987) – 
Goodwill written off     (3,541,003) –
Impairment on trade receivables    (91,170) – 
Inventories written off     (663,267) – 
Product development expenditure written off    (2,524,797) – 
Property, plant and equipment written off    (418,725) –
Gain on property, plant and equipment    32,999  – 
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange    9,826  –

      (7,588,124)  – 

 (c) Geographic information 

 No disclosure on geographical segment information as the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia. 
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31. Financial instruMents

(a) Classification of financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised 
cost. The principal accounting policies in Note 3 describe how the classes of financial instruments are 
measured, and how income and expense, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. 

 The following table analyses the financial assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position by the 
class of financial instruments to which they are assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis:

     other
     financial
    loans and liabilities at
    receivables amortised cost total
    rM rM rM

Group
31.12.2014
Financial assets
Trade receivables    1,400,038   –   1,400,038 
Other receivables    217,567   –   217,567 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks   308,158   –   308,158 
Cash and bank balances    2,178,816   –   2,178,816

     4,104,579   –   4,104,579 

Financial liabilities
Trade payables    –   547,606   547,606 
Other payables    –   330,631   330,631 
Finance lease liability    –   113,819   113,819 
Bank borrowing    –   500,000   500,000

     –   1,492,056   1,492,056 

30.9.2013
Financial assets
Trade receivables    2,794,332    2,794,332 
Other receivables    328,177   –   328,177 
Fixed deposits with licensed banks   981,213    981,213 
Cash and bank balances    5,308,353   –   5,308,353

     9,412,075   –   9,412,075 

Financial liabilities
Trade payables    –   864,848   864,848 
Other payables    –   306,262   306,262 
Bank borrowing    –   1,000,000   1,000,000

     –   2,171,110   2,171,110 
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31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(a) Classification of financial instruments (Cont’d)

     other
     financial
    loans and liabilities at
    receivables amortised cost total
    rM rM rM

company
31.12.2014
Financial assets
Other receivables    84,735   –   84,735 
Amount due from subsidiay companies   4,415,226   –   4,415,226 
Cash and bank balances    624,274   –   624,274 

     5,124,235   –   5,124,235 

Financial liabilities
Other payables    –   218,721   218,721 
Amount due to subsidiary companies   –   1,197,000   1,197,000 
Finance lease liabilities    –   113,819   113,819 

     –   1,529,540   1,529,540 

30.9.2013
Financial assets
Other receivables    80,644    80,644 
Amount due from subsidiary companies   3,906,448   –   3,906,448 
Cash and bank balances   3,140,398    3,140,398

     7,127,490   –   7,127,490 

Financial liabilities
Other payables    –   212,402   212,402

     –   212,402   212,402 

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
 
 The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that adequate financial resources are available 

for the development of the Group’s operations whilst managing its financial risks, including credit, liquidity, 
foreign currency and interest rate risks. The Group operates within clearly defined guidelines that are 
approved by the Board and the Group’s policy is not to engage in speculative transactions.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group and the Company’s exposure to the 
abovementioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these 
risks. 
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31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)
 

(i) Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from its receivables from customers and deposits with banks and financial institutions. 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from advances to subsidiary companies and 
financial guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary company.

 The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. Management has 
a credit policy in place to control credit risk by dealing with creditworthy counterparties and deposit 
with banks and financial institutions with good credit rating. The exposure to credit risk is monitored 
on an ongoing basis and action will be taken for long outstanding debts.

 The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiary companies. It also provides unsecured 
financial guarantees to banks for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary company. The Company 
monitors on an ongoing basis the results of the subsidiary companies and repayments made by the 
subsidiary companies.

 The carrying amounts of the financial assets recorded on the statements of financial position at 
the end of the reporting period represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk except for financial guarantees provided to banks for banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary company. The Company’s maximum exposure in this respect is RM500,000 (30.9.2013: 
RM1,000,000), representing the outstanding banking facilities of the subsidiary companies as at the 
end of the reporting period. There was no indication that the subsidiary company would default on 
repayment as at the end of the reporting period. 

 The Group’s has no significant concentration to credit risk except as disclosed in Note 10. The 
Company has no significant concentration of credits risks except for advances to its subsidiary 
companies where risks of default have been assessed to be low.

(ii) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its 
financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 

 The Group’s and the Company’s funding requirements and liquidity risk are managed with the objective 
of meeting business obligations on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through internally 
generated cash flows and minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available.
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31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(c) Market risks

(i) Foreign currency risk

 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in currencies 
other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this 
risk are primarily United States Dollar (USD), Euro Dollar (Euro) and Britain Pound Sterling (GBP).

 The Group has not entered into any derivative instruments for hedging or trading purposes. Where 
possible, the Group will apply natural hedging by selling and purchasing in the same currency. However, 
the exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored from time to time by management.

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

    usD   euro   GbP   total 
    rM   rM   rM   rM 

Group
31.12.2014
Cash and bank balances  680,988  –   –  680,988 

Group
30.9.2013
Trade receivables   480,003   –  –   480,003 
Cash and bank balances  1,436,904   137,192   90,732   1,664,828 
Trade payables   (597,645)  –   –   (597,645)

    1,319,262   137,192   90,732   1,547,186 

company
31.12.2014
Cash and bank balances  103,549  –  –  103,549 

company
30.9.2013
Cash and bank balances  8,362   –  –  8,362 
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31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(c) Market risks (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss before tax to a reasonably possible 
change in the USD, Euro and GBP exchange rates against RM, with all other variables held constant.

     1.10.2013 to    1.10.2012 to  
     31.12.2014    30.9.2013 
    change in    effect on loss   change in    effect on loss 
    currency rate   before taxation   currency rate   before taxation 
    rM   rM   rM   rM 

Group    
USD    Strengthened 1%   6,810   Strengthened 1%   13,193 
    Weakened 1%   (6,810)  Weakened 1%   (13,193)
Euro    Strengthened 1%  –   Strengthened 1%   1,372 
    Weakened 1%  –  Weakened 1%   (1,372)
GBP    Strengthened 1%  –   Strengthened 1%   907 
    Weakened 1%  –  Weakened 1%   (907)
    
company    
USD    Strengthened 1%   1,035   Strengthened 1%   84 
    Weakened 1%   (1,035)  Weakened 1%   (84)

(ii) Interest rate risk

 The Group’s and the Company’s fixed rate deposits placed with licensed banks and borrowings are 
exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s and the 
Company’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to changes 
in interest rates. 

 The Group manages the interest rate risk of its deposits with licensed banks by placing them at the 
most competitive interest rates obtainable, which yield better returns than cash at bank and maintaining 
a prudent mix of short and long term deposits.

 The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by obtaining 
financing with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group constantly monitors its 
interest rate risk by reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourable rates are obtained. The Group 
does not utilise interest swap contracts or other derivative instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes. 



90 AppAsia Berhad ► www.AppAsia.com

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
[Continued]

31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(c) Market risks (Cont’d)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

 The carrying amounts of the Group and of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk are as follows:

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Fixed rate instruments    
Financial liabilities   (613,819)  (1,000,000)  (113,819) –

Floating rate instruments    
Financial assets   308,158   981,213  –  – 

 interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

 The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period 
would not affect profit or loss.

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

 A change in 1% interest rate at the end of the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) the 
Group’s loss before taxation by RM3,082 (1.10.2012 to 30.9.2013: RM9,812), arising mainly as a 
result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables remain constant. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate 
sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

(d) Fair values of financial instruments

 The carrying amounts of short term receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and short term 
borrowings approximate their fair value due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments 
and insignificant impact of discounting. 

 The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, 
together with their carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position. 
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31. Financial instruMents (cont’D)

(d) Fair values of financial instruments (Cont’d)

  Fair value of financial instruments 
  not carried at fair value
      carrying
   level 1 level 2 level 3 amount
   rM rM rM rM

Group and company
31.12.2014
Financial liabilities
 (non-current)
Finance lease liabilities   –   75,530  –  76,150 

Group
30.9.2013
Financial liabilities
 (non-current)
Bank borrowings   –  500,000  –  500,000 

(i)  Policy on transfer between levels

 The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event 
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

 There were no transfers between levels during current financial period and previous financial years.

(ii) Level 1 fair value 

 Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities.

(iii) Level 2 fair value

 Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 Non-derivative financial instruments

 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of 
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the 
reporting period. In respect of the liability component of RCPS, the market rate of interest is determined 
by reference to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.

(iv) Level 3 fair value 

 Level 3 fair values for the financial assets and liabilities are estimated using unobservable inputs.
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32. caPital ManaGeMent

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s policy is to maintain a prudent level of gearing ratio 
that complies with debt covenants. The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

The gearing ratios are as follows:

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

    
Total loans and borrowings   613,819   1,000,000   113,819  –
Less: Cash and cash     
 equivalents   (2,178,816)  (5,308,353)  (624,274)  (3,140,398)

Net debt    (1,564,997)  (4,308,353)  (510,455)  (3,140,398)

Shareholders’ equity    4,924,112   16,948,322   13,615,437   18,013,358 

Debt-to-equity ratio   *   *   ^   #

* Gearing ratio not applicable to the Group as the cash and cash equivalents as at  31 December 2014 and 
30 September 2013 is sufficient to cover the entire borrowing obligation.

^ Gearing ratio not applicable to the Company as the cash and cash equivalents as at  31 December 2014 
is sufficient to cover the entire borrowing obligation.

# Gearing ratio not applicable as the Company has no borrowings as at 30 September 2013.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial period.

33. siGniFicant events 

(a) AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”)

(i) On 3 October 2013, Hong Leong Investment Bank Berhad, on behalf of the Company had announced 
the proposal to undertake a private placement (“Private Placement”) of new ordinary shares of RM0.10 
each which representing up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company to 
investor(s) to be identified and at an issue price at RM0.105 per Placement Share.

 On 28 January 2014, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company increased to RM13,895,640 
comprising of 138,956,400 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each with the completion of the Private 
Placement.
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33. siGniFicant events (cont’D)

(a) AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”) (Cont’d)

(ii) On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, TA Securities Holdings Berhad (“TA Securities”) 
had on 11 September 2014 announced that the Company proposes to undertake the following:

(1)  proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 138,956,400 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each 
in AppAsia (“AppAsia Shares” or “Shares”) (“Rights Shares”) together with up to 138,956,400 
free detachable warrants (“Warrants”) on the basis of one (1) Rights Share together with one (1) 
Warrant for every one (1) existing AppAsia Share held on an entitlement date to be determined 
later (“Proposed Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants”);

(2)  proposed establishment of a share issuance scheme of up to thirty percent (30%) of the issued 
and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) at any one time 
during the duration of the scheme for the eligible Directors and employees of AppAsia and its 
subsidiary companies (excluding dormant subsidiary companies) (“Proposed SIS”).

 Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Securities”) has vide its letter dated 30 September 2014 
approved the following:

(1)  listing of and quotation for the Rights Shares;
(2)  admission to the Official List of ACE Market of Bursa Securites and the listing of and quotation 

for the Warrants; and
(3)  listing of and quotation for the new AppAsia Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of 

the Warrants, 

on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

 The Proposed Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants and Proposed SIS was approved by the Company’s 
shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 November 2014.

 On 19 November 2014, TA Securities, on behalf of the Company had announced the following that:

(1) the Board has fixed the issue price of the Rights Shares at RM0.10 per Rights Share and the 
exercise price of the Warrants of RM0.13 per Warrant; and

(2) the Entitlement Date has been fixed on 3 December 2014 and the other relevant dates pertaining 
to the Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants.

 The Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants has been completed with the listing of 138,956,400 Rights 
Shares together with 138,956,400 Warrants on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 2 January 
2015.

 Salient terms of Warrants

 The Company executed a Deed Poll constituting the Warrant on the basis of one (1) warrant for 
every one (1) existing AppAsia Share on 19 November 2014. The issue price and exercise price of 
the Warrants is EM0.10 and RM0.13 each respectively.

 The Warrants may be exercised at any time during the tenure of ten (10) years including and 
commencing from the issue date of Warrants. The rights attached to the Warrants which are not 
exercised during the exercise period will thereafter lapse and cease to be valid.

 The new ordinary shares allotted and issued upon exercise of the Warrants shall rank pari passu in 
all respects with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company, except that such new shares shall 
not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments, and/or other distributions on or prior to the date 
of allotment of the new ordinary shares arising from exercise of the Warrants.
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34. subsequent events 

(a) AppAsia Berhad (formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”)

(iii) On 12 February 2015, the Company acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in AppAsia 
Mall Sdn Bhd (“AppAsia Mall”) from Toh Hong Chye and Wong Ngai Peow at a total consideration 
of RM2 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, AppAsia Mall became a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of the Company.

(iv) On 12 February 2015, the Company acquired two (2) ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in AppAsia 
International Sdn Bhd (“AppAsia International”) from Mr Toh Hong Chye and Mr Wong Ngai Peow at 
a total consideration of RM2 (“Acquisition”). Following the Acquisition, AppAsia International became 
a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company.

(v) On 13 March 2015, on behalf of the Board, TA Securities announced that the effective date for the 
implementation of the Proposed SIS is 13 March 2015, which is the date of full compliance of the 
SIS in accordance with Rule 6.44(1) of the Listing Requirements. 

 The details of the Options offered are set out as follows:

Date of Offer of the Options
Exercise price of Options offered
Number of Options offered
Closing Market Price of the 
 Company’s shares on the Date of Offer 
Vesting period of the Options offered

:  24 March 2105
:  RM0.183
:  70,000,000
:  RM0.23

-  Year 1 from the date of offer of the Options: 30% of 
SIS granted

-  Year 2 from the date of offer of the Options: 30% of 
SIS granted

-  Year 3-5 from the date of offer of the Options: 40% 
of SIS granted

-  Any unexercised Options for the previous year may 
be carried forward and exercisable in the following 
year.  Last day to exercise the SIS Options is on 12 
March 2020.

(b) AppAsia Mall Sdn. Bhd. (“AppAsia Mall”)

 On 16 February 2015, AppAsia Mall entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Tan Lonn Lian 
and Yong See Wei, for the acquisition of the entire business of Just Retro Enterprise, for a total purchase 
consideration of RM1,500,000.

 The above acquisition had been completed on 16 February 2015.

35. Material litiGation

 The Group and the Company have not engaged in any litigation which will have a material effect on the business 
or financial position of the Group and of the Company except for the following:

 The Company announced that on 20 August 2014, a sealed copy of Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim dated 
19 August 2014 was served to Extol Ventures Sdn Bhd (“EVSB” or “the Defendant”), a wholly owned subsidiary, 
by Messrs Wong & Partners, the Advocates & Solicitors for Xconnect Global Networks Limited (“XConnect” or 
“the Plaintiff”). 

 The Writ of Summons and Statement of Claim dated 19 August 2014 was filed to the Sessions Court at Kuala 
Lumpur in Wilayah Persekutuan with Kuala Lumpur Sessions Court Suit No: B52NCvC-246-08/2014 and have 
been fixed for hearing on 22 September 2014 at Jalan Duta Court Complex, Kuala Lumpur for case management.
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35. Material litiGation (cont’D)

Details of claims by The Plaintiff from the Defendant are as follow:

(a) An order for the delivery up of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim and damage to be 
assessed;

(b) Alternatively, judgment in the sum of US$171,071.58 to be paid by Defendant;
(c) Damages for detention of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim;
(d) Alternatively, damages for conversion of the PoP Equipment as stated in the Statement of Claim;
(e) Interest on all sums found due and payable by the Defendant under Section 11 of the Civil Law Act, 1965 

at the rate of 5% per annum from 19.08.2014 until full payment;
(f) Costs; and
(g) Such further and other relief as the Court deems fit and proper.

 On 15 September 2014, EVSB had filed a Defence and Counterclaim against Xconnect & Mohd Badaruddin Bin 
Masodi (“Badaruddin”). EVSB denies certain contents in the earlier Statement of Claim. Badaruddin had entered 
into the Malaysia Interconnection Exchange (“MIE Agreement”) for EVSB, on 3 October 2013 without any approval 
and/or ratification from the Board and/or shareholders of EVSB.

 By the MIE Agreement, Xconnect had appointed EVSB as the exclusive Channel Partner for the delivery of Xconnect 
Global Networks Limited’s Products and Services to the customers in the territories of Malaysia and Indonesia.

 Notwithstanding the terms of the MIE Agreement, Xconnect entered into an agreement with a third party, TG AGAS 
Technology Sdn Bhd (“TG AGAS”), on 4 October 2013 which is known as the Malaysian Federation Agreement 
(“MFA Agreement”) where all the provisions therein are identical to those found in the MIE Agreement.

 Without the knowledge and/or the approval of the Board members and/or shareholders of EVSB, Badaruddin, 
as the Executive Deputy Chairman of TG AGAS, had on 4 October 2013 entered into the MFA Agreement with 
Xconnect.

 EVSB avers that Xconnect had breached the MIE Agreement as the right of EVSB as the exclusive Channel 
Partner to supply Xconnect’s Products and Services in Malaysia was denied by Xconnect entering into the MFA 
Agreement with TG AGAS on 4 October 2013. EVSB avers that Xconnect has failed and/or refused to fulfil their 
obligations in the MIE Agreement. By reason of the matters aforesaid, EVSB denies being indebted to Xconnect 
as alleged in the Statement of Claim.

 As such, EVSB claims that Xconnect through John Wilkinson and Badaruddin who is a director and shareholder 
of both EVSB and TG AGAS have acted to benefit TG AGAS and to cause EVSB to suffer financial loss.

 EVSB avers that Badaruddin had breached his fiduciary duty under the Companies Act, 1965 where he shall at 
all times exercise his power for a proper purpose and in good faith in the best interest of EVSB.

 Wherefore, EVSB counter claims against Xconnect and Badaruddin as follows:

Against Xconnect: 

(a) The sum of US$87,075.11;
(b) General Damages;
(c) Interest;
(d) Costs;
(e) Further or other relief as may be just.
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35. Material litiGation (cont’D)

 Wherefore, EVSB counter claims against Xconnect and Badaruddin as follows: (Cont’d)

Against Badaruddin: 

(a) If Xconnect succeeds in its claim against EVSB, an Order that Badaruddin do indemnify EVSB against all 
losses suffered and that he pay directly to Xconnect all of the judgement sum, including interest and costs, 
which EVSB is ordered to pay to Xconnect.

(b) The sum of US$87,075.11.
(c) General Damages.
(d) Exemplary Damages.
(e) Interest.
(f) Costs.
(g) Further or other relief as may be just.

 The application for security costs has been fixed for hearing on 17 November 2014 pending filing of the Affidavit 
in Reply by the Plaintiff.

 The Sessions Court had on 26 November 2014, granted the Company the Order directing Xconnect Global 
Networks Limited to deposit the sum of RM100,000.00 (Ringgit Malaysia One Hundred Thousand) only as security 
for costs with the Court within Thirty (30) days from 26 November 2014, failing which their claim can be struck 
out on the Company’s application.

 Subsequently on 4 February 2015, the Board of Directors of AppAsia announced that the Company had on 29 
January 2015 received the Kuala Lumpur Sessions Court sealed Order and Judgement both dated 14 January 
2015 via a letter from Messrs Wong & Partners, the Plaintiff’s lawyer dated 28 January 2014, ordered Extol Ventures 
Sdn Bhd to handover the PoP Equipments to Xconnect with damages to be assessed and cost of RM3,000 to 
Xconnect. The Company has no intention to appeal after having taken legal advice from the Company’s solicitor. 
However, the Company shall be proceeding with its counter claim against Xconnect and Badaruddin.

 The Company had on 10 April 2015 received a letter from the Company’s Solicitors informed that a consent order 
of settlement has been recorded on the 7 April 2015 where upon Xconnect had withdrawn all its claim against 
EVSB while the counter claim by EVSB against Xconnect had also been withdrawn, both with no order as to cost.

 EVSB counter claim against Badaruddin is still on going with a hearing date fixed on  15 April 2015 to determine 
if the counter claim is to proceed to trial.

36. coMParative inForMation

 The financial statements of the Company as at 30 September 2013 were audited by another firm of chartered 
accountants.

 The financial year end of the Group and of the Company was changed from 30 September to 31 December. 
Accordingly, the current financial statements are prepared for fifteen months from 1 October 2013 to 31 December 
2014. As a result the comparative figures stated in the statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes of equity and statements of cash flows and the related notes are not comparable. 

 Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where necessary to conform with the current period presentation.
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36. coMParative inForMation (cont’D)

    as previously  
    stated reclassification as restated
    rM rM rM

Group
statements of cash Flows
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in working capital
Receivables    (86,989)  86,989   – 
Trade receivables    –   224,853   224,853 
Other receivables    –   (311,842)  (311,842)
Payables    (1,080,837)  1,080,837   – 
Trade payables    –   (875,662)  (875,662)
Other payables    –   (205,175)  (205,175)

statements of cash Flows
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash used in operations
Interest received    –   131,829   131,829 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received    131,829   (131,829)  – 

company 
statements of cash Flows
Cash used in operations
Interest received    –   88,706   88,706 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received    88,706   (88,706)  – 

37. Date oF authorisation For issue

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial period ended 31 December 2014 
were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 10 April 2015.
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38. suPPleMentary inForMation on Disclosure oF realiseD anD unrealiseD ProFits or 
losses

 The following analysis of realised and unrealised (accumulated losses)/retained earnings of the Group and of 
the Company at the end of the reporting period is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

 Group company
  31.12.2014 30.9.2013 31.12.2014 30.9.2013
  rM rM rM rM

Total (accumulated losses)/retained
 earnings of the Company and
 its subsidiary company
 - Realised   (11,985,378)  1,133,083   (4,362,049)  1,213,074 
 - Unrealised  –   82,951  –  –

    (11,985,378)  1,216,034   (4,362,049)  1,213,074 
Less: Consolidation adjustments   (1,067,996)  (1,067,996) – –

Total (accumulated losses)/
  retained earnings   (13,053,374)  148,038   (4,362,049)  1,213,074

 The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosure 
requirements stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any 
other purposes. 
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LIST OF 
PROPERTIES 

no. title Details/ 
Postal address

Description 
of property / 
existing use

land area 
/ built-up 
area
sq m

approximate 
age of 

building
(years) 

tenure audited net 
book value as at 

31.12.2014
rM’000

1. Prima Square 13-1, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,282 19 years Freehold 250,800

2. Prima Square 13-2, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,487 19 years Freehold 165,000

3. Prima Square 13-3, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,480 19 years Freehold 165,000

4. Prima Square 13-4, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,480 19 years Freehold 165,000

5. Prima Square 13-5, Block I Dataran 
Prima, Jalan PJU 1/37, 47301 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,487 19 years Freehold 165,000

6. Subang Business Centre 5-5, Jalan 
USJ 9/5Q, Subang Business Centre, 
47620 UEP Subang Jaya, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,726 20 years Freehold 208,640

7. Subang Business Centre 7-5, Jalan 
USJ 9/5Q, Subang Business Centre, 
47620 UEP Subang Jaya, Selangor 
Darul Ehsan

Office Lot 1,726 20 years Freehold 208,640
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share caPital 

Authorised Share Capital  : RM100,000,000.00
Issued and Paid-up Capital  : RM27,791,280.00 comprising of 277,912,800 Ordinary Shares 
Class of Shares  : Ordinary Shares of RM0.10 each
Voting Rights  : One vote for each ordinary share held

Distribution oF shareholDinGs as at 31 March 2015

  no. of % of no. of  % of 
size of holding  shareholders shareholders shares shares

1 – 99  10 0.70 369 0.00
100 - 1,000  221 15.40 72,550 0.03
1,001 - 10,000  290 20.21 2,089,481 0.75
10,001 - 100,000  677 47.18 29,637,400 10.66
100,001 -  13,895,639*   235 16.38 178,280,800 64.15
13,895,640 AND ABOVE **  2 0.14 67,832,200 24.41

Total   1,435 100.00 277,912,800 100.00

Remark : 
* - Less than 5% of Issued Shares
** - 5% and above of Issued Shares

substantial shareholDers (5% anD above) as at 31 March 2015

no. name of substantial shareholder no. of shares held no. of shares held
   Direct % indirect %

1 Swift Icon Sdn Bhd   53,606,100 19.30 – –
2 Ho Yi Jing   14,226,100 5.12 – –

Directors’ interests in shares as at 31 March 2015

no. name of Director no. of shares held no. of shares held
   Direct % indirect %

1 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud 
 Bin Mohammad Khalil  – – – –
2 Toh Hong Chye  2,805,700 1.01 3,000,000* 1.08*
3 Wong Ngai Peow  3,000 0.001 – –
4 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian  – – 8,247,100** 2.97**
5 Low Kim Leng  – – – –
6 Tan Fie Jen  824,700 0.30 – –
7 Ng Kok Wah  – – – –

* Deemed interested through Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
** Deemed interested through Crystal Privilege Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

ANALYSIS OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015 
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list oF toP 30 larGest securities accounts holDers 
(accorDinG to the reGister oF DePositors as at 31 March 2015) 

no. name of shareholders
no. of 

shares
%

1 SWIFT ICON SDN. BHD. 53,606,100 19.288

2 HO YI JING 14,226,100 5.118

3 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
OOI HOCK LAI

12,816,900 4.611

4 CRYSTAL PRIVILEGE SDN BHD 8,247,100 2.967

5 MANJUNG UNTUNG SDN. BHD. 8,247,100 2.967

6 LEONG LAI KUEN 6,927,500 2.492

7 CHAH KONG MIN @ CHOY SOI TUCK 5,000,000 1.799

8 KANG CHOO KIAT 4,329,600 1.557

9 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SUNRISE SETUP SDN BHD. (E-TM I)

4,123,500 1.483

10 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG POH CHEE (E-TMI)

4,000,000 1.439

11 HO CHAI KHAW 3,813,100 1.372

12 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
GEMAS LESTARI SDN BHD

3,748,600 1.348

13 MAYBANK SECURITIES NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR VINCENT TAN SENG CHYE
DEALER038)

3,420,000 1.230

14 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR JEE TAI CHEW (021)

3,065,500 1.103

15 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ANG HE YAM

3,000,000 1.079

16 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RICHMOND VIRGINIA TOBACCO SDN. BHD.

3,000,000 1.079

17 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
TOH HONG CHYE

2,805,700 1.009

18 ALICE LEE CHIA YEE 2,680,300 0.964

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[Continued]
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no. name of shareholders
no. of 

shares
%

19 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEOU THIAM LAI (M09)

2,268,600 0.816

20 REJOICE REALTY SDN. BHD. 2,100,000 2,100,000

21 NGEE PIK HAA 2,000,000 0.719

22 TEOH TEK SIONG 1,950,000 0.701

23 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHU CHIN (471507)

1,916,000 0.689

24 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH BENG DE @ GHO BENG DE (CCTS)

1,850,000 0.665

25 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
TAN CHOON WAI (8058340)

1,809,800 0.651

26 YAP YUEN TECK 1,800,000 0.647

27 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHOON WAI (8028527)

1,790,000 0.644

28 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR 
SARAVANAN A/L RAGAVAN (E-TMI)

1,767,000 0.635

29 WONG POH CHEE 1,705,800 0.613

30 GAN PEI LING 1,700,000 0.611

total 169,714,300 61.067

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[Continued]
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analysis oF Warrants holDinGs as at 31 March 2015

Issued Size : 138,956,400 free detachable warrants issued pursuant to the Renounceable Rights 
Issue with Warrants exercise

Number of Warrants Holders : 466

Distribution oF Warrants holDinGs as at 31 March 2015

  no. of % of no. of  % of 
size of holding  shareholders shareholders holdings shares

1 – 99  0 0.00 0 0.00
100 - 1,000  18 3.86 11,800 0.01
1,001 - 10,000  75 16.09 528,100 0.38
10,001 - 100,000  243 52.15 11,411,000 8.21
100,001 -   6,947,819*   128 27.47 92,073,300 66.26
6,947,820 AND ABOVE **  2 0.43 34,932,200 25.14

total   466 100.00 138,956,400 100.00

Remark : 
* - Less than 5% of Issued Warrants  
** - 5% and above of Issued Warrants 

Directors’ interests in Warrants as at 31 March 2015

no. name of Director no. of shares held no. of shares held
   Direct % indirect %

1 Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud 
 Bin Mohammad Khalil  – – – –
2 Toh Hong Chye  2,000,000 1.44 3,000,000* 2.16*
3 Wong Ngai Peow  1,500 0.001 – –
4 Dato’ Lai Wen Shian  – – 4,247,100** 3.06**
5 Low Kim Leng  – – – –
6 Tan Fie Jen  424,700 0.30 – –
7 Ng Kok Wah  – – – –

*  Deemed interested through Richmond Virginia Tobacco Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
** Deemed interested through Crystal Privilege Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

list oF toP 30 larGest Warrants holDers/ DePositors as at 31 March 2015 

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[Continued]
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(accorDinG to the reGister oF DePositors as at 31 March 2015) 

no. name of shareholders
no. of 

shares
%

1 SWIFT ICON SDN. BHD. 27,606,100 19.866

2 HO YI JING 7,326,100 5.272

3 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD OOI HOCK LAI 6,551,900 4.715

4 OOI HAN EWE 4,975,800 3.580

5 CRYSTAL PRIVILEGE SDN BHD 4,247,100 3.056

6 MANJUNG UNTUNG SDN. BHD. 4,247,100 3.056

7 LEONG LAI KUEN 3,567,500 2.567

8 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RICHMOND VIRGINIA TOBACCO SDN. BHD.

3,000,000 2.158

9 CHAH KONG MIN @ CHOY SOI TUCK 2,400,000 1.727

10 KANG CHOO KIAT 2,229,600 1.604

11 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR JEE TAI CHEW (021)

2,210,700 1.590

12 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SUNRISE SETUP SDN.BHD. (E-TM I)

2,123,500 1.528

13 ANG SZE CHAMP 2,002,400 1.441

14 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG POH CHEE (E-TMI)

2,000,000 1.439

15 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
TOH HONG CHYE

2,000,000 1.439

16 RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
GEMAS LESTARI SDN BHD

1,938,600 1.395

17 HO CHAI KHAW 1,909,400 1.374

18 MAYBANK SECURITIES NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR VINCENT TAN SENG CHYE (DEALER038)

1,710,000 1.230

19 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ANG HE YAM

1,500,000 1.079

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[Continued]
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no. name of shareholders
no. of 

shares
%

20 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR ONG TIONG ENG (CCTS)

1,435,300 1.032

21 ALICE LEE CHIA YEE 1,380,300 0.993

22 TEOH TEK SIONG 1,300,000 0.935

23 HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH BENG DE @ GHO BENG DE (CCTS)

1,275,000 0.917

24 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LAU LEE CHENG (J DEDAP-CL)

1,200,000 0.863

25 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEOU THIAM LAI (M09)

1,168,600 0.840

26 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
LIM CHEE SEONG

1,050,800 0.756

27 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (ASING) SDN. BHD.
DBS VICKERS SECS (S) PTE LTD FOR NG KING KWEE

1,000,000 0.719

28 NGEE PIK HAA 1,000,000 0.719

29 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHU CHIN (471507)

958,000 0.689

30 WONG POH CHEE 952,900 0.685

Total 96,266,700 69.278

 

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
[Continued]
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notice is hereby Given that the Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of AppAsia Berhad (Formerly known as 
Extol MSC Berhad) (“AppAsia” or “the Company”) will be held at The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), Cobalt 
9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 2015 at 11.00 a.m. for the purpose of transacting 
the following businesses:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial period ended 31 
December 2014 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Please refer to Note A

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM175,935.00 to non-executive 
directors of the Company for the financial period ended 31 December 2014.

Ordinary Resolution 1

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 90 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association :-

i) Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil 
ii) Toh Hong Chye
iii) Wong Ngai Peow
iv) Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
v) Low Kim Leng
vi) Tan Fie Jen
vii) Ng Kok Wah

Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6
Ordinary Resolution 7
Ordinary Resolution 8

5. To re-appoint Messrs. UHY as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 9

sPecial businesses :-
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolution:-

6. authority to Directors to allot and issue shares

“THAT subject to the Companies Act, 1965, and the approval of the relevant 
government and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby 
empowered pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, to issue 
shares of the Company from time to time upon such terms and conditions and 
for such purposes and to such person or persons whomsoever as the Directors 
may deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to 
this resolution shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of the Company for the 
time being, subject always to the approval of all the relevant regulatory bodies 
having been obtained for such allotment and issue, and such authority shall 
continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company; and FURTHER THAT the Directors be and are hereby empowered 
to obtain the approval for the listing and quotation for the additional shares so 
issued on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).”

Ordinary Resolution 10

7. To transact any other business of the Company for which due notice shall have 
been given.

By order of the Board,

tan tong lang (MAICSA 7045482)
chong voon Wah (MAICSA 7055003)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur 
23 April 2015 

NOTICE OF 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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notes

A. This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as Section 169 (1) of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Company’s 
Articles of Association provide that the audited financial statements are to be laid in the general meeting. Hence, 
it is not put forward for voting. 

1. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”), it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities 
account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

2. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominees which holds ordinary shares in the Company 
for multiple beneficial owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

3. Where the authorised nominee appoints two (2) proxies, or where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two 
(2) or more proxies, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the 
instrument appointing the proxies.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either under the corporation’s Seal or under the hand of 
an officer or an attorney duly authorised. 

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, Share 
Registrar office of the Company at Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama, 47800 Petaling 
Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting, 
i.e. on or before 11.00 a.m., Wednesday, 13 May 2015 or at any adjournment thereof.

6. For the purpose of determining a member who shall entitle to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting 
Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 61(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association to 
issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015. Only depositor whose name appears on the 
Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015 shall be entitled to attend this meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/
or vote on his/her behalf.

exPlanatory notes on sPecial business

ordinary resolution 10: authority to Directors to allot and issue shares

The Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, is a renewal General Mandate to empower the Directors to issue and allot shares 
up to an amount not exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being for such purposes 
as the Directors consider would be in the best interest of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the 
Company at a General Meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited 
to further placing of shares, for the purpose of funding future investment project(s) workings capital and/or acquisitions 
at any time without convening a general meeting as it would be both costs and time consuming to organise a general 
meeting.

As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the General Mandate granted 
to the Directors at the Tenth Annual General Meeting held on 28 March 2014 and which will lapse at the conclusion of 
the Eleventh Annual General Meeting.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
[Continued]
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of the Company are:-

i) Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin Mohammad Khalil 
ii) Toh Hong Chye
iii) Wong Ngai Peow
iv) Dato’ Lai Wen Shian
v) Low Kim Leng
vi) Tan Fie Jen
vii) Ng Kok Wah

Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90
Article 90

Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6
Ordinary Resolution 7
Ordinary Resolution 8

The profile of the above Directors are set out on Pages 7 to 10 of the Annual Report 2014. The details of the interest of 
the above Directors in the securities of the Company or its related corporations are disclosed in the Directors report on 
pages 31 to 32 of the aforesaid Annual Report.

The details of the Directors’ attendance for Board Meetings are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statements on 
page 15 of the Annual Report 2014.

The Eleventh (11th) Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), 
Cobalt 9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 2015 at 11.00 a.m.  



Proxy ForM

I/We, ––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– NRIC No. –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 (Full name in capital letters)

of  –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 (Full address)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

being a member(s) of aPPasia berhaD (Formerly known as extol Msc berhad) (Company No. 643683-U) hereby appoint

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 (Full name in capital letters)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
 (Full address)

or failing him, –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– o f –––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 11th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 
The Ritz Carlton (Carlton Conference Centre), Cobalt 9, 1st Floor, 168, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 May 
2015 at 11.00 a.m. for/against* the resolution(s) to be proposed thereat. The proxy is to vote in the manner indicated below, 
with an “X” in the appropriate spaces. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at 
his/her discretion.

no. agenda resolution For aGainst

1. Approve Payment of Directors Fee Ordinary Resolution 1

2. Re-election of Datuk Wira Rahadian Mahmud Bin 
Mohammad Khalil as Director

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. Re-election of Toh Hong Chye as Director Ordinary Resolution 3

4. Re-election of Wong Ngai Peow as Director Ordinary Resolution 4

5. Re-election of Dato’ Lai Wen Shian as Director Ordinary Resolution 5

6. Re-election of Low Kim Leng as Directors Ordinary Resolution 6

7. Re-election of Tan Fie Jen as Directors Ordinary Resolution 7

8. Re-election of Ng Kok Wah as Directors Ordinary Resolution 8

9. Re-appointment of Auditors Ordinary Resolution 9

10. Authority to Directors to allot and issue shares Ordinary Resolution 10

Signed on this ______________ day of _________________ 2015.

number of shares held:-

cDs account no.:-
___________________________________________

Signature of Shareholder or Common Seal

*  Strike out whichever is not desired.

Notes:-
A. This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as Section 169 (1) of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Company’s Articles of Association 

provide that the audited financial statements are to be laid in the general meeting. Hence, it is not put forward for voting. 
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead 

and that where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his holdings to be represented by each proxy. A 
proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provision of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not 
apply to the Company.

2. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”), 
it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing 
to the credit of the said securities account.

3. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominees which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one (1) securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4. Where the authorised nominee appoints two (2) proxies, or where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two (2) or more proxies, the 
proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if 
the appointer is a corporation, either under the corporation’s Seal or under the hand of an officer or an attorney duly authorised. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, Share Registrar office of the 
Company at Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama, 47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia at 
least forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting, i.e. on or before 11.00 a.m., Wednesday, 13 May 2015 or at any 
adjournment thereof.

7. For the purpose of determining a member who shall entitle to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia 
Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Article 61(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association to issue a General Meeting Record of 
Depositors as at 8 May 2015. Only depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at 8 May 2015 shall be entitled to 
attend this meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his/her behalf.

aPPasia berhaD (643683-U)
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

✄



Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd, 
Share Registrar of

APPASIA BERHAD (643683-U)
(Formerly known as Extol MSC Berhad)
Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower
8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
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